NOT YET SCHEDULED FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

22-CF-0960

Clerk of the Court
Received 10/12/2023 11:29 PM

Filed 10/12/2023 11:29 PM

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

TRAVANION WARD-MINOR,

Appellant,

ν.

UNITED STATES,

Appellee.

On Appeal From The Superior Court Of The District Of Columbia

OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT TRAVANION WARD-MINOR

Richard P. Goldberg (Bar No. 492926)
Counsel of Record and Counsel for Oral Argument
GOLDBERG & GOLDBERG, PLLC
1250 Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 700
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 656-5773
richard.goldberg@goldberglawdc.com
Counsel for Travanion Ward-Minor

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTEDvii					
STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
STATEMENT OF FACTS					
A.	Police seize Mr. Ward-Minor when they stop the car in which he was a passenger, after which they order him out and handcuff him				
В.	Immediately after ordering Mr. Ward-Minor out of the car and handcuffing him, Lt. Chatmon searches him				
C.	Lieutenant Chatmon testifies that most of his stops are of black people, due to the area he is generally directed to work in8				
C.	The trial court makes findings of fact and conclusions of law and denies the defense motions to dismiss the charges and to suppress the gun				
	1.	The trial court denies the motion to suppress9			
	2.	The trial court denies the motion to dismiss under the Equal Protection Clause			
D.	At the request of the defense, the trial court makes specific factual findings				
E.		Ward-Minor enters into a conditional guilty plea, with the court's consent, preserving his appellate rights16	I		
STANDAR	D OF	REVIEW16	ı		
ARGUMEN	NT SU	JMMARY17			
ARGUMENT 18					

1.	The search of Mr. ward-Minor was not consensual21		
II.	The search of Mr. Ward-Minor violated the Fourth Amendment because it was not based on reasonable, articulable suspicion that he was presently armed and dangerous		
	1. This Court has repeatedly rejected a conclusion that the presence of drugs indicates the presence of a weapon25		
	2. Mr. Ward-Minor's alleged movements were insufficient to indicate the presence of a weapon		
	3. Nervousness is insufficient to indicate the presence of a weapon, and the trial court found that Mr. Ward-Minor did not act unreasonably nervous		
	4. An attempt to assert constitutional rights is insufficient to indicate the presence of a weapon		
	5. Lieutenant Chatmon's purported experience in "body language" could not provide sufficient evidence that Mr. Ward-Minor was armed		
III.	Mr. Ward-Minor was prejudiced by the trial court's abused of discretion in improperly declining to grant the motion to compel racial-bias data		
	1. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. Ward-Minor's motion to compel racial-bias data39		
	2. The trial court's failure to compel production of racial-bias data prejudiced Mr. Ward-Minor, because the court declined to grant his motion to dismiss citing the lack of that very data		
CONCLUS	ON44		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Allison v. United States, 623 A.2d 590 (D.C. 1993)
* Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323 (2009)
Biles v. United States, 101 A.3d 1012 (D.C. 2014)
Bingman v. United States, 267 A.3d 1084 (D.C. 2022)
* Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)
Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249 (2007)
Brown v. United States, 590 A.2d 1008 (D.C. 1991)
Coates v. United States, 113 A.3d 564 (D.C. 2015)
Commonwealth v. Lora, 886 N.E.2d 688 (Mass. 2008)
Duhart v. United States, 589 A.2d 895 (D.C. 1991)
Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429(1991)
Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491 (1983)
Franco v. District of Columbia, 39 A.3d 890 (D.C. 2012)
Golden v. United States, 248 A.3d 925 (D.C. 2021)
Gordon v. United States, 120 A.3d 73 (D.C. 2015)
Griffin v. United States, 618 A.2d 114 (D.C. 1992)
Guadalupe v. United States, 585 A.2d 1348 (D.C. 1991)
Hawkins v. United States, 663 A.2d 1221 (D.C. 1995)
Henderson v. United States, 276 A.3d 484 (D.C. 2022)
Henson v. United States, 55 A.3d 859 (D.C. 2012)
Hunter v. United States, 980 A.2d 1159 (D.C. 2009)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (cont'd)

$\underline{\text{Cases}} \text{ (cont'd)}$
<i>In re A.S.</i> , 827 A.2d 46 (D.C. 2003)
<i>In re C.B.N.</i> , 499 A.2d 1215 (D.C. 1985)
<i>In re J.D.C.</i> , 594 A.2d 70 (D.C. 1991)
<i>In re J.M.</i> , 619 A.2d 497 (D.C. 1992)
<i>In re R.M.C.</i> , 719 A.2d 491 (D.C. 1998)
Jackson (Louis) v. United States, 805 A.2d 979 (D.C. 2002)
Jackson (Tyrone) v. United States, 56 A.3d 1206 (D.C. 2012)27
Johnson (James) v. United States, 398 A.2d 354 (D.C. 1979)
Koonce v. District of Columbia, 111 A.3d 1009 (2015)
Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408 (1997)
Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1997)
Posey v. United States, 201 A.3d 1198 (D.C. 2019)
* Robinson v. United States, 76 A.3d 329 (D.C. 2013)27, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36
Sharp v. United States, 132 A.3d 161 (D.C. 2016)
So v. 514 10th St. Assocs., L.P., 834 A.2d 910 (D.C. 2003)
State v. Lee, 920 A.2d 80 (N.J. 2007)
State v. Soto, 734 A.2d 350 (N.J. Super. Ct. Law. Div. 1996)
* Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)
Tyer v. United States, 912 A.2d 1150 (D.C. 2006)
United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456 (1996)
United States v. Davis, 793 F.3d 712 (7th Cir. 2015)
United States v. Dixon, 469 F. Supp 2d 40 (D.D.C. 2007)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (cont'd)

$\underline{Cases} (cont'd) \underline{Page(s)}$
United States v. Hare, 820 F.3d 93 (4th Cir. 2016)
United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980)
United States v. Sellers, 906 F.3d 848 (9th Cir. 2018)
United States v. Washington, 869 F.3d 193 (3d Cir. 2017)
* Upshur v. United States, 716 A.2d 981 (D.C. 1998)
Vaughn v. United States, 93 A.3d 1237 (D.C. 2014)
Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806 (1996)
<u>Statutes</u>
D.C. Code § 48-921.02a
D.C. Code § 5-113
Other Authorities
Webster's Third New International Dictionary, Unabridged (1981)
Rules
D.C. R. Crim. P. 16
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. amend XIV
U.S. Const. amend. IV

^{*} Cases upon which Appellant chiefly relies are marked with an asterisk.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. The defendant was the passenger in a car that was stopped by police for the alleged infraction of excessive window tint. He was ordered to exit the car, ordered not to move, and then handcuffed behind his back. He was then, while still handcuffed, "asked" if it was "cool" for police to search him "real quick." Could consent to such a search while still seized be voluntary?
- 2. The defendant sought to support his claim that police engaged in racial bias by selectively targeting black motorists for traffic-law enforcement with a demand that the government produce racial-bias data in its custody. When he sought to compel the government to disclose this information, the trial court denied the motion to compel. Later, at the hearing, the trial court denied his motion to dismiss, citing a lack of data. Was the trial court abuse of discretion in denying the motion to compel, the resulting prejudice at the hearing, permissible?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Travanion Ward-Minor was indicted for Carrying a Pistol Without a License, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(a), A.2; Possession of an Unregistered Firearm, in violation of D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a), A.2; and Unlawful Possession of Ammunition, in violation of D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(3), A.3.¹ The charge stemmed from an encounter with police in which Mr. Ward-Minor was a passenger of a car that police stopped, allegedly due to excessive window tint. Prior to trial, the defense moved to compel the government to produce certain data on racial bias, to support the defendant's planned motion to dismiss under the Equal Protection Clause. A.6. That motion was denied. A.40. The defense nonetheless moved to dismiss under the Equal Protection Clause. A.61. The defense also moved to suppress the gun recovered at the stop during a patdown under the Fourth Amendment. A.48. After the conclusion of a hearing on both issues, A.72, the trial court denied the Mr. Ward-Minor's motion to dismiss citing a lack of data, A.196; and the court denied his motion to suppress the gun, finding that the search was consensual, A.197; A.206-07. At the conclusion of the trial court's decisions, the defense requested specific findings, A.207, which the court made, A.208-14.

Following these findings and the court's decision at the hearing, the Mr. Ward-Minor entered into a conditional plea, A.220-21, in which he pleaded guilty to the charges while reserving his appellate rights with respect to his

-

¹ Citations to the appendix are in the form, "A.[page number]"; citations to the hearing transcript (included in the Appendix) are in the form "Tr. [page number]."

motions to suppress and dismiss, to which the trial court consented. A.214. After Mr. Ward-Minor pleaded guilty, A.216, he was sentenced under the Youth Act, A.238, as follows: (1) for the CPWL charge, 6 months incarceration, suspended as to all; 3 years of supervised probation, suspended as to all; and a fine to the victims of violent crime fund of \$100; (2) for the UF charge, 3 months incarceration, suspended as to all; 6 months supervised probation; and a VVCA fine of \$50; (3) for the UA charge, 3 months incarceration, suspended as to all; 6 months supervised probation; and a VVCA fine of \$50. A.240-41; A.243.

Having filed a timely notice of appeal, A.4, Mr. Ward-Minor now appeals the court's decisions on his motions to dismiss and suppress, and his resulting conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The motions to dismiss and suppress evidence were filed in writing but argued at a hearing before a judge. The government put on only one witness: Lieutenant James Chatmon. Tr. 7. Lieutenant Chatmon was actually the passenger in the police car; his partner, Lieutenant Modl, was driving, Tr. 9. but she did not testify, Tr. 143. Lieutenant Chatmon testified that by the time of the hearing, he had worked for the D.C. Metropolitan Police Department for 18 years. Tr. 7. Four years earlier, when he encountered Mr. Ward-Minor, he was a sergeant working in the Gun Recovery Unit. Tr. 8.

A. Police seize Mr. Ward-Minor when they stop the car in which he was a passenger, after which they order him out and handcuff him.

Lieutenant Chatmon testified that at the time of the incident, his partner,
Lieutenant Modl was driving, with then-Sergeant Chatmon in the passenger seat.

Tr. 9. Lieutenant Chatmon testified that his partner decided to pull over the car when she spotted it driving in the opposite direction and apparently determined that the windows were too-dark. Tr. 13; *see* Tr. 20 (police "did a U-turn and got behind the vehicle"). Lieutenant Chatmon did not make the decision to pull over the car, nor did he see the tinted windows until after he they had pulled over the car. Tr. 90. Rather, Lt. Modl, according to Lt. Chatmon, stated, "Hey, I'm going to stop this vehicle. The windows are too dark on it." Tr. 20. Lieutenant Chatmon testified that he did not know whether Lt. Modl, before they stopped the car, could see the passengers inside the car. Tr. 20-21. Nor did Lt. Chatmon know whether the windows were actually too dark under D.C. law. Tr. 21-26.

Once the car was stopped, Lt. Chatmon testified, Lt. Modl ordered the driver to roll down the windows. Once that had happened, Lt. Chatmon testified, he could smell burnt marijuana. Tr. 13-14. Lieutenant Chatmon testified that he did not have any recollection whether "actual smoke" came from the car; rather, there was "the smell of [burnt] marijuana." Tr. 86-87. With the aid of footage from his body camera, Lt. Chatmon testified that he asked Mr. Ward-Minor to step out of the vehicle, and Mr. Ward-Minor complied. Tr. 15. Lieutenant Chatmon also testified that once stopped, Mr. Ward-Minor had admitted to possessing marijuana. Tr. 15. Lieutenant Chatmon testified that Mr. Ward-Minor was "moving around kind of antsy, which further aroused my suspicion." Tr. 15.

Lieutenant Chatmon testified that both he and Lt. Modl, when they stopped the car and ordered Mr. Ward-Minor out, were armed with guns. Tr. 36. He also testified that he commanded Mr. Ward-Minor to roll down his window. Tr. 36-37.

Lieutenant Chatmon confirmed that Mr. Ward-Minor did not really have a choice in the matter. "I mean, he did, but he didn't. He complied and let the window down." Tr. 37. He further explained that had Mr. Ward-Minor not rolled down the windows, "I probably would have opened the door." Tr. 37. Lieutenant Chatmon also testified that Lt. Modl told Mr. Ward-Minor to put his hands up. Tr. 37. At the time, Mr. Ward-Minor was not free to leave: "That was a traffic stop, so no." Tr. 38. When Lt. Chatmon told Mr. Ward-Minor to open his door, Tr. 38, and in fact pulled the door open as Mr. Ward-Minor began to open it, Mr. Ward-Minor also had no choice in the matter, Tr. 39.

Lieutenant Chatmon testified that he ordered Mr. Ward-Minor to put his hands straight up. Tr. 39. According to Lt. Chatmon and the video, upon being ordered out of the car, Mr. Ward-Minor said that he did not feel safe. Tr. 39-40. Lieutenant Chatmon testified that upon existing the car, Mr. Ward-Minor "moved his hands towards his waistband area. Tr. 41. But upon replaying of the video during cross examination, in which defense counsel suggested that the hand movement was just Mr. Ward-Minor pushing himself off the car as he tried to exit, Lt. Chatmon stated that he could not see Mr. Ward-Minor's hand. Tr. 42. Defense counsel asked, "So you're not saying that [Mr. Ward-Minor] was reaching for something; you just needed to see his hand then?" Lieutenant Chatmon answered, "I did need to see his hands." Tr. 42. Lieutenant Chatmon then testified that he grabbed Mr. Ward-Minor's hand:

Defense Counsel: Okay. And you stopped him because he was not being compliant with the way in which you told him to get out of the car, right?

Lt. Chatmon: Again, like I said, his nervousness, and when he put his hand

back, I wasn't sure what he was—what he was—what he was doing. It looked like he—like I said, he moved his hand back towards where his, you know, waistband area is. You saying it

could be to get leverage, but I don't know what it is.

Everybody is not right-handed, and when he put his left hand

there, he could have a weapon on his left-hand side.

Defense Counsel: All right. And as he's—you grabbed his wrist, right?

Lt. Chatmon: That's correct.

Defense Counsel: And then you told him not to move, right? You said, "Don't

move."

. .

Lt. Chatmon: Correct.

Tr. 43-44.

Lieutenant Chatmon, after agreeing that he needed to have control of the situation, testified that he handcuffed Mr. Ward-Minor behind his back. Tr. 44. Lieutenant Chatmon confirmed again that Mr. Ward-Minor had no choice in the matter. Tr. 44. Lieutenant Chatmon further testified that he made Mr. Ward-Minor turn his back to be handcuffed, and then turn around to face him afterward. Tr. 44-45. He also testified that he made Mr. Ward-Minor "stop moving." Tr. 45. Lieutenant Chatmon stated that Mr. Ward-Minor was "very nervous, and he was moving around a lot, which, based on my experience, is indicative of someone who has weapons and/or either some other type of contraband, which is why I put the handcuffs on him." Tr. 45. He explained that his suspicion was further aroused Mr. Ward-Minor, asked "if he had anything on him other than marijuana," looked at his crotch area. Lieutenant Chatmon further explained the

basis of his hunch: "in my past experience, whenever I asked individuals previously if they had anything on them, they look to where the object is that they are not supposed to have. It's just—*I don't know why it happens*, but it happens like that *quite often*." Tr. 46. He described this as "an indication." Tr. 47 (emphasis added).

Questioned by the judge, Lt. Chatmon stated that in his career he had made at least one thousand arrests—a "ridiculous number of arrests." Tr. 47. (No evidence was introduced on that point. *See id.*) As a result, he explained, his experience "does help me read body language and those types of things. That's what I based that on. I mean, his nervousness; his hesitancy to get out of the car; when I asked that question, him looking at his crotch area, I took all of those things, put them together, and, you know, that made me feel like there was something more there." Tr. 47.

Defense counsel questioned Lt. Chatmon about what made him think Mr. Ward-Minor was nervous. Lieutenant Chatmon explained that he saw Mr. Ward-Minor, when he put his hands on the dashboard, was trembling. Yet, he conceded, this did not appear on video. "[Y]ou may not be able to see it to the degree that I saw it that day because the camera may not pick up his hands trembling." Tr. 48. Questioned about why he earlier had testified that the video was a fair and accurate representation of the encounter, but later that he did not capture the details of the encounter that he could perceive, he explained that he could also see Mr. Ward-Minor's heart rate: "You can't pick up breathing on that, but I can pick up the breathing. *His heart rate* or his chest rising and falling, you

won't be able to see that on a video, but I can see that." Tr. 48-49 (emphasis added). Lieutenant Chatmon then insisted that the video *did* pick up Mr. Ward-Minor trembling:

Look at his thumbs. You can see his fingers. His hands are trembling. If you slow it back—go back and play it, you can see his thumbs, you'll see his hands trembling. You'll also see him start to do this with his hands because he's nervous. He's nervous. I can tell he's nervous.

Tr. 49.

Asked whether, in all of the arrests he had accumulated, people are "just generally nervous when they meet police," Lt. Chatmon conceded, "Some people are nervous. There are some people, but that's why you go a little bit more, the investigative tool. You know, some people just get nervous when they get around the police, absolutely true." Tr. 50. Asked, "And so nervousness isn't necessarily indicative of guilt of anything, right?", Lt. Chatmon responded in the affirmative: "Which is why he wasn't under arrest for being nervous." Tr. 50.

B. Immediately after ordering Mr. Ward-Minor out of the car and handcuffing him, Lt. Chatmon searches him.

Lieutenant Chatmon testified that he said to Mr. Ward-Minor, who was still in handcuffs, "I'm going to check you real quick," "if that's cool." Tr. 51-52; *see* Tr. 135. (judge finding that Lt. Chatmon asked, "Is that cool?"). Lieutenant Chatmon further testified that Mr. Ward-Minor nodded." Tr. 52. Lieutenant Chatmon maintained that the subsequent search was therefore consensual: "I asked him to search him, and I assumed that he was saying yes for that particular reason." Tr. 52. He did not, he testified, inform Mr. Ward-Minor that he would be searching in the crotch area, but just that "I was going to pat him down." Tr. 52;

Tr. 53 ("I'm going to check you real quick."); Tr. 60 (Lt. Chatmon testifying that he did not inform Mr. Ward-Minor that he would search in his crotch, between his inner thighs, and around his genitals). There was no indication in the testimony that Lt. Chatmon informed Mr. Ward-Minor that he could refuse the search, be released from handcuffs, or leave the scene. After Lt. Chatmon "felt around his genitals," he testified, he found a gun. Tr. 55.

C. Lieutenant Chatmon testifies that most of his stops are of black people, due to the area he is generally directed to work in.

Defense counsel extensively questioned Lt. Chatmon about the number of times that he had stopped black versus white motorists. Tr. 61-68. Lieutenant Chatmon stated that he recalled at least once making a stop of a white person that went to court, though he could not remember the name of the case or anything about it. Tr. 62. But otherwise, Lt. Chatmon explained, that so many of his stops are of people who are black, "[p]robably the bulk of the time, because of the area we work in." Tr. 62. He further stated, "It's the demographics of that particular area." Tr. 62.

Lieutenant Chatmon also explained that the fact that most of his stops are of black people is largely dictated by the areas to which he is assigned, Tr. 62-24, and the decision about where he was assigned was largely controlled by those above him in MPD, Tr. 67-70; Tr. 69 ("It's passed down to us from, like, our commander, captains. Lieutenants at that particular time, because at that time I was a sergeant."). On the day he encountered Mr. Ward-Minor, Lt. Chatmon did not recall why he was in the area. Tr. 73. However, when asked, "based on the area that you're in and the type of car, [is it] fair to say that you know you're going

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