**BRIEF FOR APPELLEE** 

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 22-CF-960

TRAVANION WARD-MINOR,

Appellant,

v.

## UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN STEPHANIE DINAN

- \* DAVID B. GOODHAND D.C. Bar #438844 Assistant United States Attorneys
- Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 David.Goodhand2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2018-CF2-14858



Received 01/11/2024 01:46 PM Filed 01/11/2024 01:46 PM

Appellee.

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The record supports the trial court's finding that Ward-Minor voluntarily consented to Sergeant Chatmon's frisk request. Numerous features of their interaction demonstrate that Ward-Minor freely and voluntarily permitted Sergeant Chatmon to search him for weapons, including: Ward-Minor had previously questioned the officer's authority to order him out of the car; the traffic stop took place on a busy thoroughfare during the day; Sergeant Chatmon had only briefly detained Ward-Minor before asking him if it was "cool" to frisk him; the officers neither outnumbered the Impala's occupants nor brandished their guns; and Sergeant Chatmon generally used a polite and conversational tone with Ward-Minor. Because several factors that this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Judge O'Keefe additionally rejected Ward-Minor's claim that Sergeant Chatmon's frisk exceeded the scope of the consent: "I didn't see Mr. Ward-Minor say anything or react in a way that indicated that he was not willing to have the officer do whatever he was doing" (A.206-07; see also A.211 ("Mr. Ward-Minor consented for the officer to check him out.")).

Court has deemed relevant to the voluntariness inquiry support the trial court's factual finding, it cannot be deemed clearly erroneous.

As for Ward-Minor's additional claim that the trial court erroneously denied his motion to compel discovery, he has waived that claim. When Ward-Minor conditionally pleaded guilty, he properly preserved his right to appeal the trial court's denial of his *suppression* motion. But he never "reserv[ed] in writing the right to have an appellate court" review the trial court's denial of his *discovery* motion, D.C. Super. Ct. Crim R. 11(a)(2). Accordingly, his guilty plea waived that nonjurisdictional claim.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Clearly Err in Finding – Based on Sergeant Chatmon's Credible Testimony and the Body-Worn-Camera Footage – that Ward-Minor Voluntarily Consented to the Frisk for Weapons.

Ward-Minor claims (at 21-24 & n.5) Sergeant Chatmon's frisk "was not consensual," contending "the fact that [he] was detained [and] handcuffed behind his back rendered any purported consent involuntary." "No reasonable person," he maintains (at n.5), "who has been ordered out of a car and not to move, then handcuffed behind his back, would believe he was free to decline the search." This claim is meritless.<sup>10</sup>

"The Fourth Amendment test for a valid consent to search is that the consent be voluntary, and '[v]oluntariness is a question of fact to be determined from all the circumstances." *Ohio v. Robinette*, 519 U.S. 33, 40 (1996) (quoting *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 248-49 (1973)); *see Ford v. United States*, 245 A.3d 977, 984 (D.C. 2021) ("consent is a factual inquiry"). "Relevant factors in making this determination include the age of the person, his or her education, mental and physical condition, whether he or she was under arrest, the length and nature of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Though "the waiver form does not include a written reservation of the suppression issue," the "transcript" of the October 2022 plea colloquy shows "all parties agreed that the plea was conditional" and identifies the "exact issue reserved," *Casey v. United States*, 788 A.2d 155, 158 (D.C. 2002), namely: "the findings of the suppression hearing" (A.220; see Waiver of Trial (attached); D.C. Super. Ct. Crim. R. 11(a)(2)). As explained in Part II.B infra, however, Ward-Minor did not specify – and thus has waived – his challenge to the court's earlier (January 2020) denial of his "Motion To Compel Data Necessary To Establish Selective Enforcement and Officer Bias" (A.6-27, 40-47). Additionally, Ward-Minor made several suppression arguments below that he does not now repeat: the initial traffic stop was unlawful (A.166-69); the handcuffs "converted" his seizure into an arrest (A.169-72); and Sergeant Chatmon "exceed[ed] the scope" of any consent by "reach[ing] in [Ward-Minor's] crotch area" (A.175-78). Ward-Minor has thus abandoned these suppression claims.

the interrogation, and whether he or she was told of the right to refuse to consent." *Welch v. United States*, 466 A.2d 829, 843-44 (D.C. 1983); *see also Basnueva*, 874 A.2d at 369-70 (listing similar factors).

Ward-Minor "has not shown that the trial court's finding of voluntariness was 'plainly wrong or without evidence to support it." *Basnueva*, 874 A.2d at 370 (quoting D.C. Code § 17-305(a)).<sup>11</sup> To the contrary, the record amply supports the court's conclusion that Ward-Minor gave "a voluntary consent" (A.204); *see Dorsey v. United States*, 60 A.3d 1171, 1205-06 (D.C. 2013) (en banc) (where "there are two permissible views of the evidence, the factfinder's choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous") (cleaned up).

To begin, "the details of the interrogation which gave rise to [Ward-Minor's] consent," *Welch*, 466 A.2d at 843, were not coercive. Sergeants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> "[W]here the validity of a search rests on consent, the State has the burden of proving that the necessary consent was obtained *and* that it was freely and voluntarily given[.]" *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 497 (1983) (emphasis added). Ward-Minor does not challenge the court's consent finding, i.e., that he gave an "affirmative response" to Sergeant Chatmon's "question" (A.203-04). *Cf. Hawkins v. United States*, 248 A.3d 125, 129 (D.C. 2021) ("On this record, we hold that the government failed to prove that Hawkins consented to the search of his satchel."). Instead, Ward-Minor contends (at 24) only that the court's "finding that [his] consent to be searched was voluntary" is "clearly erroneous."

Modl and Chatmon executed their traffic stop during the day on a busy street. See United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411, 424 (1976) (though defendant had "been arrested," consent to search was voluntary where, inter alia, it was "given while on a public street"); Basnueva, 874 A.2d at 370 (consent voluntary where, inter alia, traffic stop "took place during the day and on a public street"). Further, the officers did not outnumber the Impala's two occupants and "[t]here was no overt act or threat of force proved or claimed." Watson, 423 U.S. at 424. Additionally, "the officers never drew or displayed their weapons in a threatening manner." Castellon v. United States, 864 A.2d 141, 155 (D.C. 2004). Though Sergeants Modl and Chatmon each *possessed* a gun, "where the police officers keep their weapons holstered during the entire encounter" – as the body-worn-camera footage indicates was true here - "th[is] court will have some difficulty finding that there was coercion simply because the officers had them available." Id.; see also Basnueva, 874 A.2d at 370 (during traffic stop "officers never drew their weapons or spoke in a loud voice").

Additionally, the "length of the detention prior to consent" was short. *Basnueva*, 874 A.2d at 369; *see also Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 226 (same). Sergeant Chatmon came abreast of the passenger-side window at 18:59:27z, and asked for Ward-Minor's consent approximately three minutes later, at 19:02:33z (see Exh. 1). Further, during this brief period, Sergeant Chatmon generally "addressed [Ward-Minor] in a polite, conversational tone of voice," *Burton v. United States*, 657 A.2d 741, 745 (D.C. 1994).

Finally, "[t]here is no indication in the record that [Ward-Minor] was a newcomer to the law, mentally deficient, or unable in the face of a [traffic stop] to exercise a free choice." Watson, 423 U.S. at 424-25. To the contrary, Ward-Minor's actions during the stop and, indeed, at the suppression hearing itself demonstrate that, as the trial court found, he was "intelligent enough and able to assert his rights" (A.200). When Sergeant Chatmon directed Ward-Minor to get out of the car, for example, the court found that Ward-Minor questioned Chatmon's authority, asking in essence: "Why do I have to get out of the car? I'm a passenger. I didn't do anything. I'm not doing anything." (A.203; see also A.200, 209.) Additionally, Ward-Minor told Sergeant Chatmon, he didn't "feel safe" (Exh. 1 (19:00:44-46z)). In response, Sergeant Chatmon had to explain what the law permits an officer to do during a traffic stop.

Moreover, consistent with Ward-Minor's on-scene boldness, at the suppression hearing he repeatedly interjected facts and commentary. For example, when the prosecutor argued Ward-Minor had been moving suspiciously slow during the stop, defense counsel countered that "he was in the presence of a police officer," which is "not the time to start moving very quickly" (A.191). Ward-Minor then added sua sponte, "I'm black" (A.191). On another occasion – again, without prompting – Ward-Minor offered his interpretation of a portion of the body-worn-camera footage, which caused the court to ask defense counsel if his "client want[ed] to testify" (A.173).<sup>12</sup> Thus, the record supports the trial court's conclusions that Ward-Minor was not a "shrinking violet" and, indeed, had "the capacity and intelligence to challenge the officer" (A.206).

In sum, numerous facts support the trial court's ruling that Ward-Minor voluntarily consented to Sergeant Chatmon's request. Accordingly, it cannot be said that the court clearly erred. "[A] choice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> During his counsel's later argument, Ward-Minor also offered that the Impala's driver was now deceased: "He's dead. He's dead now, bro." (A.192.) Further, when his counsel posited an innocent explanation for Ward-Minor's hand movement ("he was just putting his hand on the seat"), Ward-Minor expressed his agreement ("Yes") (A.202).

between two permissible views of the weight of evidence is not 'clearly erroneous." United States v. Yellow Cab Co., 338 U.S. 338, 342 (1949); see generally Henderson v. United States, 276 A.3d 484, 489 (D.C. 2022) (this Court's "deference to the trial court's factual determinations under th[e voluntariness] standard extends to that court's evaluation of the body-worn camera footage").

Relying on two other aspects of the encounter, however, Ward-Minor contends that the court clearly erred. First, Ward-Minor suggests, the mere fact of his seizure rendered his consent involuntary. Specifically, he asserts (at 22-23), although the "Supreme Court and this Court have identified numerous factors to determine whether consent was given voluntarily," in "the context of a traffic stop . . . these details need not be weighed."<sup>13</sup> But the "fact of custody alone has never been enough in itself to demonstrate a coerced confession or consent to search."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See also Br. at vii ("Could consent to such a search *while still seized* be voluntary?" (emphasis added)); *id.* at 23-24 ("There was *no* indication that the seizure had ended, because it had not ended. It is therefore beyond genuine debate that the point at which Mr. Ward-Minor could have felt free to leave had not yet occurred. *As a result*, the trial court's finding that Mr. Ward-Minor's consent to be searched was voluntary . . . was clearly erroneous." (second emphasis added; citation omitted)).

Watson, 423 U.S. at 424. Here, Sergeant Chatmon hadn't even arrested Ward-Minor. Rather, Ward-Minor had only been temporarily seized at the time he consented to the frisk.

Second, "[i]n any event," Ward-Minor asserts (at 24 n.5), "the fact that [he] was detained, handcuffed behind his back, rendered any purported consent involuntary." But "just because a defendant is handcuffed when he or she gives consent does not make such consent invalid." United States v. Lee, 793 F.3d 680, 686 (6th Cir. 2015). "Although relevant to whether consent was voluntary, being in handcuffs, under arrest, or in custody 'does not preclude a finding of voluntariness." United States v. Magallon, 984 F.3d 1263, 1281 (8th Cir. 2021) (citation omitted). Indeed, in *Castellon*, this Court approvingly cited a Seventh Circuit decision and noted that, "although defendant was in custody, handcuffed, and had a slight language barrier, the presence of such 'subtly coercive' factors was outweighed by the fact that defendant was of sufficient age and intellect and no direct force or intimidation was used." 864 A.2d at 156 (quoting United States v. Rojas, 783 F.2d 105, 109-10 (7th Cir. 1986)). In like fashion here, although Sergeant Chatmon had detained and handcuffed Ward-Minor, other features of the encounter

conveyed voluntariness, including that Ward-Minor had not been "subject to a full arrest," the officers "never drew" their firearms, and Ward-Minor had "no barriers to comprehension," *id.* at 155-56; *see also Rojas*, 783 F.2d at 110 ("Even if some police actions in this case were 'subtly coercive,' it was well within the trial court's discretion to weight those factors against the greater number of factors that indicated Rojas's consent was freely and voluntarily given.").<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Though Ward-Minor alternatively contends (at 24-38) Sergeant Chatmon lacked a reasonable basis to believe he possessed a weapon, the government – like the trial court – does not rely on that ground to justify the frisk. And, to the extent that Ward-Minor is suggesting Chatmon unlawfully handcuffed him, he does not explain why that was so much less how any alleged unlawfulness rendered his consent involuntary. Nor would the record support such arguments. First, "[c]ourts have routinely held the use of handcuffs in the Terry context to be reasonable in situations where suspects attempted to resist police, made furtive gestures, ignored police commands, attempted to flee, or otherwise frustrated police inquiry." Womack v. United States, 673 A.2d 603, 609 (D.C. 1996). As described supra, the trial court permissibly found Ward-Minor engaged in such behavior here. Second, although "[c]onsent obtained after an illegal *seizure* is invalid unless it can be shown that the consent was in fact sufficiently an act of free will to purge the primary taint of the unlawful seizure[,]" Towles v. United States, 115 A.3d 1222, 1228 (D.C. 2015) (citation omitted; emphasis added), the use of handcuffs here did not result in any *illegal* seizure: Ward-Minor already was seized by virtue of the traffic stop, which was lawful. And, the trial court having permissibly found that the handcuffing did not itself render Ward-Minor's consent involuntary, its legality vel non would not have affected the outcome. Cf. Womack, 673 A.2d at 610 ("We conclude that the (continued . . . )

# II. Ward-Minor's Guilty Plea Waived His Discovery Claim and, In Any Event, the Trial Court's Factual Findings Show He Was Not Prejudiced.

Ward-Minor additionally claims (at 38-44) the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to compel so-called "racial-bias data." Ward-Minor maintains (at 18) this data was necessary to "support[] his motion to dismiss under the Equal Protection Clause." But Ward-Minor has waived this claim and, at any rate, he was not prejudiced by the denial.

#### A. Relevant Procedural History

In 2019, Ward-Minor moved to compel the government to "disclose data" that, he claimed, would show "(a) that the officer witnesses against [him] [we]re biased against him; and (b) that the stop of [him] was the product of racially selective enforcement of the law" (A.6-27 (dated:

handcuffing of Womack did not change the result. The incremental intrusion on Womack's liberty effected by the handcuffs was minimal. Even if Womack had not been placed in handcuffs, he would not have been free to leave until after N.H. had had an opportunity to identify him.").

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